
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 
Meeting LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Wednesday, 7 July 2021 
 
Location Council Chamber, Council Offices, Whitwick Road, Coalville -   

Public are encouraged to view the live stream of the meeting 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services 01530 454512 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item  Pages 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should made clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

 To receive questions from members of the public under rule no.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules.  
 

 

4  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2021. 
 

3 - 6 

5  WAREHOUSING AND LOGISTICS IN LEICESTER AND LEICESTERSHIRE: 
MANAGING GROWTH AND CHANGE (APRIL 2021)  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

7 - 10 

6  LOCAL PLAN REVIEW - RENEWABLE AND LOW CARBON ENERGY  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

11 - 32 

7  LOCAL PLAN REVEIW - HEALTH AND WELLBEING POLICY  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

33 - 46 

 
Circulation:  

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


 
Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
Councillor K Merrie MBE (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor D Bigby 
Councillor R Boam 
Councillor D Everitt 
Councillor J Hoult 
Councillor J Legrys 
Councillor R L Morris 
Councillor A C Saffell 
Councillor N Smith 
Councillor M B Wyatt 
Councillor R Ashman (Portfolio Holder) 



29 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Coalville on WEDNESDAY, 26 MAY 2021  
 
Present:  Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
 
Councillors D Bigby, J Hoult, R Johnson, J Legrys, V Richichi, A C Saffell and N Smith  
 
Officers:  Mr C Colvin, Mr C Elston, Ms S Grant, Ms S Lee, Mr I Nelson and Mrs R Wallace 
 

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Boam and D Harrison. 
 

2 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members declared the following interests: 
 
Councillors D Bigby and J Legrys declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 5 – Local Plan 
Review: Policy Options for EC2(2), Start Up Workspace and Local Employment as they 
had previously publicly stated their opinions on Planning Policy EC2(2) but were 
considering the item with an open mind. 
 
Following legal advice, Councillor J Hoult declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 6 – 
Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment, as his home was in close 
proximity to a site identified within the report and he was against development.  If a 
discussion on the site was had then he would leave the meeting until the conclusion. 
 

3 PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
None 
 

4 MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 31 March 2021. 
 
A Member questioned the accuracy of minute number 40 - Local Plan Substantive Review 
– Renewable Energy Study, as they did not believe they reflected the lengthy discussion 
held.  The Democratic Support Officer reminded Members that the minutes were not a 
verbatim account and were intended to record the official decisions made with an 
overview of the discussion held.  The meeting was available to watch in full on the website 
for anyone interested in the full discussion. 
 
Members noted that the minute did not include a full account of the discussions for the 
item and asked that it be made clear on the online minutes that the meeting could be 
viewed in full if required and include a hyperlink.   
 
It was moved by Councillor V Richichi, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 31 March 2021 be approved subject to the above 
amendment. 
 
 
 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



30 
 

Chairman’s initials 

5 LOCAL PLAN REVIEW: POLICY OPTIONS FOR EC2(2). START UP WORKSPACE 
AND LOCAL EMPLOYMENT 
 

 
The Principal Planning Policy Officer presented the report and referred Members to the 
update sheet as circulated prior to the meeting. 

 
In response to a question from a Member, the Planning Policy Team Manager reported 
that there was no indication yet as to what the freeport would mean for the area.  He 
explained that a piece of work was underway across Leicester and Leicestershire (the 
Housing and Economic Needs Assessment) in relation to future housing and employment 
needs which had been asked to consider the potential implications of the Freeport 
element.  A report was expected for the committee in the Autumn. 
 
Comments were made on the wording of the consultation questions as some Members 
were concerned that the language used was very technical, therefore discouraging people 
to respond. It was acknowledged that it would be difficult to engage with the public due to 
the technical subject matter of the consultation. Reference was made to comments 
currently circulating on social media which indicated that people did not understand this 
process, Members strongly urged officers to communicate clearly with appropriate 
language for all to understand.  The Chairman also encouraged Members to go out and 
communicate this to the public as they had the experience and knowledge gained from 
sitting on the committee.   
 
It was felt that some of the advantages and disadvantages in relation to option 7 within the 
report were leading in what should be a balanced and neutral position.  Officers were 
asked to reword the disadvantages to make them more of a suggestion than a statement, 
and to include arguments for the advantages.  The Planning Policy Team Manager took 
on board comments made and reminded Members that the advantages within the report 
were factual statements used in the NPPF.   
 
In response to a question, the Planning Policy Team Manager confirmed that Members 
were not being asked to agree the wording for the consultation at this point, all comments 
received would be considered and a further report would be presented to committee 
before the consultation commenced. 
 
In relation to start up workspace, a Member felt that the policy should encourage people to 
use unoccupied agricultural buildings and asked for clear wording on this to be included.  
A discussion then ensued in relation to the continuing building of new units despite 
already unoccupied units which affected a number of areas throughout the District.  A 
comment was also made in relation to suitable housing for the people that worked on 
these sites to reduce commuting. 
 
It was moved by Councillor K Merrie, seconded by Councillor V Richichi and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The potential policy options set out in the report for  
 
a) a review of Policy EC2(2) as amended by the update sheet;  
b) Start-Up workspace; and  
c) Local Employment  
 
be included in the next consultation stage of the Local Plan review. 
 
 

4



31 
 

Chairman’s initials 

6 STRATEGIC HOUSING AND ECONOMIC LAND AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT 
(SHELAA) - NEW SITES 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager presented the report. 
 
Concerns were raised once again in relation to the language used in the consultation.  
Reference was made to the comments made for the previous item in relation to the clarity 
of the communication and the current sense of panic amongst members of the public, 
particularly on social media, due to misunderstanding.  It was stressed that not all local 
people understood the process, and it was causing a significant amount of upset.   It was 
agreed for the consultation key message to be that the SHELAA was not a policy 
document and did not allocate sites to be developed or grant planning permission.  
 
Some Members felt that the current process was not ideal as it seemed to be led by 
developers but acknowledged that it was compulsory under the current planning 
regulations.  It was suggested that the message to the public be clear that it was not 
NWLDC’s choice to develop the suggested sites and include the four reasons that a site 
could be rejected for the SHELAA.   The Chairman did not agree that the process was 
developer led but stressed that if the process was not completed, it could be, as NWLDC 
would not have a Local Plan in place.    
 
Concerns were raised on the timing of the public statement released, just days after the 
recent elections, which could be interpreted as a deliberate hold back of information.  
Criticisms were shared on the lack of explanation provided to the public at this time as 
many Councillors were blamed unnecessarily due to a lack of understanding from the 
public. 
 
A discussion was had on the methodology involved when assessing the suggested sites, 
as a site in Hugglescote St Johns (off Richmond Road) had been included even though it 
was hazardous due to a national power line.  A Member requested that more information 
be provided in relation to the methodology involved in the process and an explanation be 
given on the reasons for sites being included or rejected, particularly the site at 
Hugglescote St Johns as mentioned.  Members felt that this information would be helpful 
as they were being contacted by residents regularly asking for clarity.  The Planning 
Policy Team Manager clarified that all sites available had to be considered and that 
nothing had been rejected at this time.   
 
In response to a question, the Planning Policy Team Manager explained that future 
development would not be restricted to only the sites within the SHELAA.  Other sites 
could be considered at any time, however the process would be more difficult as proof of 
viability would need to be provided, for example the support from the landowner. 
 
It was moved by Councillor A C Saffell, seconded by Councillor N Smith and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The significant additional sites that are to be included in the 2021 update of the SHELAA 
be noted.  
 
The meeting was adjourned for a comfort break at 7.18pm and reconvened at 7.24pm. 
 

7 LEICESTER & LEICESTERSHIRE AUTHORITIES - STATEMENT OF COMMON 
GROUND RELATING TO HOUSING AND EMPLOYMENT LAND NEEDS 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager presented the report. 
 

5



32 
 

Chairman’s signature 

Some disappointment was expressed in that the focus was still only on 
Leicester/Leicestershire when other neighbouring authorities would have an impact due to 
the close proximity to NWLDC’s northern parishes.  It was felt by some Members that 
housing and employment needs should be being discussed beyond the boundaries of 
Leicestershire.  The Planning Policy Team Manager reminded Members that 
Leicester/Leicestershire was the housing area NWLDC were in and that was the reason 
for the focus.  However, there would be many Statements of Common Grounds to be 
agreed and discussions with other authorities moving forward once the appropriate stage 
of the Local Plan had been reached.  He assured Members that these discussions would 
be had in the future. 
 
In response to a question, the Planning and Policy Team Manager reported that the 
shortfall and redistribution need was a mixture of many things including commuters from 
Leicester, first time households and people moving into NWL.  He confirmed there was no 
way of knowing exactly what the need was at this stage but if a proportion was for people 
working in Leicester it would have an impact on redistribution. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Legrys, seconded by Councillor K Merrie and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The Leicester and Leicestershire Statement of Common Ground relating to housing and 
employment land needs (March 2021) be signed by the District Council.   
 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 7.40 pm 
 

 

6



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – 7 JULY 2021 
 

Title of Report 
 

WAREHOUSING AND LOGISTICS IN LEICESTER AND 
LEICESTERSHIRE: MANAGING GROWTH AND CHANGE 
(APRIL 2021) 

Presented by Councillor Robert Ashman 
Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure 

Background Papers National Planning Policy Framework  
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Warehousing and Logistics in Leicester & 
Leicestershire: Managing growth and change 

Public Report: 
Yes 
 

Financial Implications The Council’s contribution towards the cost of this study has 
been met through existing budgets.  
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications None from the specific content of this report. In due course the 
planning policy implications of the study will be incorporated in a 
consultation document for the Substantive Local Plan Review. 
The Local Plan Review process as a whole must accord with the 
legal requirements set out in legislation and guidance.  

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

No staffing implications associated with the specific content of 
this report. Links with the Council’s Priorities are set out at the 
end of the report.  
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report This report presents the key findings from the study into the 
future requirements of the warehousing and logistics industry in 
Leicester and Leicestershire which will form part of the evidence 
base for the Substantive Local Plan Review.   
 

Recommendations 1) THAT THE LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE NOTES THE 
FINDINGS OF THE WAREHOUSING AND LOGISTICS 
STUDY (2021) WHICH WILL FORM PART OF THE 
EVIDENCE BASE FOR THE SUBSTANTIVE LOCAL PLAN 
REVIEW.  

 
2) THAT THE LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE NOTES THE NEXT 

STEPS SET OUT IN THE REPORT 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1 A key matter for the Local Plan Review to address is the additional need for employment 

land in the district to cover the new plan period. The National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) directs that planning policies should “meet anticipated needs over the plan period” 
(paragraph 81) and also “be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the 
plan”. With respect to the logistics sector specifically, the Framework states that “planning 
policies and decisions should recognise and address the specific locational requirements of 
different sectors. This includes making provision for…. storage and distribution operations 
at a variety of scales and in suitably accessible locations” (paragraph 82). 
 

1.2 A study of the strategic distribution sector (units of 9,000+sqm) in the county was jointly 
commissioned by the Leicester and Leicestershire authorities and the Leicester and 

7

Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/warehousing_and_logistics_in_leicester_and_leicestershire_managing_growth_and_change_april_2021/Warehousing%20Report%20Leics%20FINAL%2027%2004%2021%20%28FOR%20PUBLICATION%29.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/warehousing_and_logistics_in_leicester_and_leicestershire_managing_growth_and_change_april_2021/Warehousing%20Report%20Leics%20FINAL%2027%2004%2021%20%28FOR%20PUBLICATION%29.pdf


 

Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership. The study, entitled ‘Warehousing and Logistics in 
Leicester and Leicestershire: Managing Growth and Change (April 2021)’ was prepared by 
G L Hearn in partnership with MDS Transmodal and Iceni Projects. This latest study 
supersedes previous reports on this subject, the most recent dating from January 2017.    

 
1.3 The study was presented to the Members Advisory Group on 20 May 2021. It was then 

published on the council’s website on 21 May to ensure it was in the public domain before 
Planning Committee considered the planning application at Netherfields Lane 
(20/00316/OUTM) on 3 June. 

 
2. KEY FINDINGS 

 
2.1 The study provides a comprehensive analysis of the strategic distribution sector and the 

factors which will impact on its future operation. The study analyses data from a wide range 
of sources and includes market intelligence about the operation of the sector in 
Leicestershire and more widely.  
 

2.2 A key output is the assessment of how much additional strategic distribution floorspace is 
likely to be needed in the county for the period 2020-2041 (21 years). To give rigour to their 
analysis, the consultants looked at alternative ways to estimate future requirements and 
also tested a number of alternative assumptions. The study concludes that a 
growth/replacement approach is the most appropriate methodology to follow. Using this 
approach the future need for land/floorspace for strategic warehousing is generated by two 
main factors: 

a) the additional land/floorspace needed to accommodate the growth in the volume of 
goods being transported during the 2020-41 period. This growth element is 
generated using a specialist model which has been used to provide forecasts for the 
Department of Transport and Network Rail amongst others.   

b) the necessity to replace existing warehouses which will come to the end of their 
functional life during the 2020-41 period 
 

2.3 On this basis, the report recommends that the Leicester and Leicestershire authorities plan 
for around 2,571,000 sqm of additional floorspace in the county between 2020 and 
2041. This incorporates a flexibility margin equivalent to 5 years supply to mitigate for 
delays in sites coming forward, to provide a buffer so that supply is not so tightly aligned to 
the forecast need and to allow for market churn and choice. The study explains that the 
findings should not be viewed as a maximum level of development or a cap.   

 
2.4 Once the supply from sites with planning permission and allocated land (at April 2020) is 

taken into account, the position becomes; 

 there is a shortfall of 768,000 sqm (307 ha) at rail served sites. The report 
states that this could be largely fulfilled through the proposed Hinckley National Rail 
Freight Interchange (NRFI) at Junction 2 of the M69 at Hinckley which would serve 
around 650,000sqm of strategic scale warehousing if it were permitted. 

 there is a shortfall of 392,000 sqm (112 ha) at non-rail served sites 
 

2.5 This shortfall is the need to be met through the allocation of land in Local Plans and 
through the granting of planning permissions.  
 

2.6 Schemes with planning permission which were already ‘pre-let’ to an occupier at April 2020 
(the start date of the study) have not been included in the supply referred to in paragraph 
2.4 above. This is because these schemes are not available to meet need arising from April 
2020 onwards, which is the period the study is measuring, because they already have an 
occupier lined up. The affected sites in the district are Mercia Park/J11 A42 (350,000sqm, 
under construction), the Aldi expansion site, Sawley (60,000sqm, not started) 
and Refresco (formerly Cotts Beverages), Kegworth (19,771sqm, now completed).  
 
 
 

8



 

2.7 The study identifies 6 ‘areas of opportunity’ in the county, shown indicatively on the map 
below. These broad areas are where the consultants consider new strategic logistics sites 
should be located and they have been identified using the following criteria; 

 good connections with the strategic road network 

 good connections with the railway network 

 access to markets served 

 access to labour and proximity to areas of employment need  
 

 
 

2.8 Four of the areas are in, or partially within, the district. 

 AO2 (road/rail served), broadly following the A6, M1 and Midland Main Line 
transport corridors, 

 AO3 (road/rail served), broadly following the A50, the Midland Main Line and the 
freight only line connecting the Midland Main Line. This area includes East Midlands 
Distribution Centre and East Midlands Gateway. 

 AO4 (road served), broadly following the M1 and A511 transport corridors, 
incorporating Coalville, including the Bardon Hill area, and (outside of North West 
Leicestershire) Shepshed. 

 AO5 (road served), the A42 transport corridor, incorporating Ashby-de-la-Zouch 
 

2.9 The study goes on to explain that the future supply of sites should be geographically 
spread and that there should be sufficient sites available to meet the varying needs of 
different operators (e.g. proximity to labour, cargo origins, location of end users). In this 
respect, the study recommends that:  

 Local plans and allocations ensure a supply of vacant plots at strategic sites in at 
least two of the Areas of Opportunity simultaneously ideally across road and rail; 
and  

 New land should initially be allocated in those Areas of Opportunity where there is 
an identified under-supply of strategic sites, ahead of those Areas of Opportunity 
which are currently well provided for. 

 
2.10 This aspect will be considered as part of the further work on this topic as set out in the next 

section.  
 

3. NEXT STEPS 
 

3.1 The study will form part of the evidence base for the Leicester and Leicestershire 
authorities’ Local Plans. The intention is that the authorities will continue their joint working 
on this subject with the aim of using a Statement of Common Ground to agree how the 
need for additional floorspace should best be distributed within the county. It would then be 
for each individual authority to plan for its share of the overall requirement through its own 

9



 

Local Plan process. This Leicestershire-wide approach is appropriate as this is a sector 
which operates at a strategic level and takes a sub-regional view of development needs 
and opportunities. Officers consider that a collective approach would be the best way to 
ensure that a) the overall requirement is planned for and met; b) there is a wide enough 
geographical spread of sites serving different Areas of Opportunity; c) there is a continuity 
of supply; and d) Duty to Co-operate obligations are met. It could also help give greater 
certainty when considering individual planning applications and at Local Plan Examinations 
if there was a consistent position across the county.   
 

3.2 It will be appreciated that it is likely to be technically and politically difficult to reach an 
agreed position. For example, the development pressure for strategic warehousing is not 
the same across all the Leicestershire authorities so the motivation to agree a position will 
be less for some. If agreement cannot be reached, or is delayed such that it would impact 
upon the preparation of our Local Plan, the Council may need to come to its own 
conclusion about the amount of land to allocate for strategic warehousing in the Local Plan 
Review. Such an approach would carry a risk, but equally delaying preparation also carries 
risks. 

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

The economic policies in the Substantive Local Plan 
Review will be particularly relevant for the following 
Council Priority;  
- Support for businesses and helping people into 

local jobs 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

Adopted Local Plan 
National Planning Policy Framework 

Safeguarding: 
 

None specific 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

The Local Plan Review as an entity will be subject to 
an Equalities Impact Assessment.  

Customer Impact: 
 

None specific 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact.  
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
deliver positive economic and social impacts and 
these will be recorded through the Sustainability 
Appraisal.  . 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact.  
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
deliver positive environmental and climate change 
benefits and these will be recorded through the 
Sustainability Appraisal.  

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

In due course the planning policy implications of the 
economic evidence set out will be incorporated in a 
consultation document for the Substantive Local Plan 
Review. The consultation arrangements will be 
governed by requirements in the Statement of 
Community Involvement. 

Risks: 
 

A risk assessment for the Local Plan Review has 
been prepared and is kept up to date. As far as 
possible control measures have been put in place to 
minimise risks, including regular Project Board 
meetings where risk is reviewed. 

Officer Contact 
 

Sarah Lee – Principal Planning Policy Officer  
01530 454791 
sarah.lee@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

10

mailto:sarah.lee@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – 7 JULY 2021 
 
 

 
Title of Report 
 

 
LOCAL PLAN REVIEW - RENEWABLE AND LOW CARBON 
ENERGY  

Presented by Councillor Robert Ashman 
Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure 

Background Papers National Planning Policy 
Framework  
 
National Planning Practice 
Guidance 
 
Zero Carbon Roadmap 
 
Renewable and Low Carbon 
Energy Study 
 
LPC Report 31 March 2021 
 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The cost of the study is met from existing budgets which are 
reviewed as part of the annual budget setting process. 
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications None from the specific content of this report. In due course the 
planning policy implications of any climate change evidence will 
be incorporated in a consultation document for the Substantive 
Local Plan Review. The Local Plan Review process as a whole 
must accord with the legal requirements set out in legislation and 
guidance. 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None identified 
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report This report sets out potential policy options for climate change 
issues as part of the Local Plan Review with a view to testing 
these through the next stage of consultation. 

Recommendations (I) THAT THE COMMITTEE: AGREES FOR INCLUSION IN 

THE NEXT CONSULTATION STAGE OF THE LOCAL 

PLAN THE POTENTIAL POLICY OPTIONS FOR A) 

RENEWABLE ENERGY, B) REDUCING CARBON 

EMISSIONS AND C) WATER EFFICIENCY AS SET 

OUT IN APPENDICES 1, 2 AND 3 OF THIS REPORT  

 
1.    BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Members will recall that the 31 March 2021 meeting of this committee considered a report 

in respect of the findings from the Renewable and Low Carbon Energy study which had 

been commissioned to support the preparation of the Local Plan. This is referred to in this 

report as the AECOM study.  

1.2 The report noted that: 11

Agenda Item 6

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=14918&PlanId=0&Opt=3
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/renewable_and_low_carbon_energy_study_february_2021/NWLDC%20Renewable%20Energy%20Study%20FINAL%2011-02-21%20%28clean%29.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/renewable_and_low_carbon_energy_study_february_2021/NWLDC%20Renewable%20Energy%20Study%20FINAL%2011-02-21%20%28clean%29.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s31428/Local%20Plan%20Substantive%20Review%20-%20Renewable%20Energy%20Study%20Local%20Plan%20Committee%20Report.pdf


 

 The study supported the targets for renewable energy set out in the council’s 

Zero Carbon Roadmap; 

 At the present time heat pumps offer the best opportunity to decarbonise heat 

supply in the district; 

 Future policies and guidance should follow the energy hierarchy.  

 

1.3 The report also noted that a further report would be brought to this committee setting out 

some possible policy options.   

1.4 Officers from the Planning Policy Team have worked together with the council’s Climate 

Change Programme Manager in order to ensure the policy options proposed for the Local 

Plan are aligned with the Zero Carbon Roadmap. 

1.5 It has long been recognised that new development has an impact upon the environment, 

whether that be localised (e.g., air quality in the vicinity of a site) or wider (e.g., carbon 

emissions adding to the impact of climate change worldwide).  

1.6 In terms of climate change, carbon emissions are the most significant issue that needs to 

be addressed. The UK Green Building Council notes that: 

“The building and construction sector is crucial in the race to keep carbon emissions 

below dangerous levels for our planet. Globally, buildings consume 36% of energy 

produced, and are responsible for 39% of global carbon emissions, making them the 

largest contributing sector to climate change”. 

1.7 This threat is recognised in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which sets 

out that Strategic Policies in Local Plans:  

“should set out an overall strategy for the pattern scale and quality of development, and 

make sufficient provision for: 

…planning measures to address climate change mitigation and adaptation.” 

1.8 Therefore, it is clear that the Local Plan has a key role to play in seeking to minimise the 

impact arising from new development. The issue of the development strategy to be 

pursued through the Local Plan will be the subject of future reports to this Committee. 

This report focusses upon the mitigation of climate change.  

1.9 The government has set ambitious carbon reduction targets. However, the reality is that 

not all aspects of national policy are currently aligned or clear. For example, the national 

planning policy context over recent years has been confused in terms of whether Local 

Authorities can or cannot specify higher energy performance standards than those 

mandated by Building Regulations. As set out later in this report, legislation was passed 

in 2008 which indicated that the government was going to prohibit local planning 

authorities setting higher standards as part of their local plans. However, more recently 

the government has suggested this will now not be enacted.  

1.10 A further area of potential conflict within national policy relates to the issue of viability. It is 

important to note at the outset that many of these policy options will potentially add to the 

cost of new developments. The NPPF is clear that policies in local plans should not 

“undermine the deliverability of the plan”. The local plan will need to be subject to a 

viability assessment the purpose of which (according to the National Planning Practice 

Guidance) is to “not compromise sustainable development but should be used to ensure 

that policies are realistic, and that the total cumulative cost of all relevant policies will not 

undermine deliverability of the plan”. It should be noted, therefore that any preferred 

options may need to be amended at a later date in the plan preparation process to take 

account of viability issues. 

12



 

1.11 Therefore, any action proposed by this Council has to be seen within the wider national 

(and international) context which will require a consistent and exerted approach from 

government to achieve its ambitious aims. 

1.12 In addition, it should be noted that all policies in the Local Plan will be subject to a 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) which could result in changes. It will also be necessary to 

ensure that different policies in the plan are as consistent with each other as they can be. 

For example, there are potential conflicts between the aspirations on climate change and 

the conservation of historic assets. Therefore, when drafting policies these will need to 

strike a balance between CO2 reduction and preserving the heritage significance of these 

assets. This may result in some further changes to those policies outlined at Appendix 1 

of this report. 

1.13 There are other climate change related issues which are included in the AECOM study 

that will need addressing, these include Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points and cycling 

and walking. Further reports will be brought to future meetings of this Committee that will 

consider these issues.  

2.  OUTLINE OF THE REPORT 

2.1 This report is largely concerned with ensuring that new development incorporates 

appropriate measures to mitigate the impact of climate change or to adapt to it. Annex 2 

of the NPPF defines climate change adaptation and mitigation as: 

Climate change adaptation: Adjustments made to natural or human systems in 

response to the actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or 

exploit beneficial opportunities.  

Climate change mitigation: Action to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate 

system, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions. 

2.2 This report takes the findings of the AECOM study, combined with advice from bodies 

such as the UK Green Building Council, and sets out some possible options that the Local 

Plan can take.  

2.3 To achieve net zero carbon the Good Homes Alliance (an alliance of architects, planners, 

developers, universities, local authorities, urban designers, consultants and building 

professionals), identify two key factors which need to be addressed as part of new 

development: energy efficiency and renewable energy generation. However, there are 

other factors which can be addressed. In particular, this report considers the following 

matters in addition to energy efficiency and renewable energy: 

 Embedded or lifetime carbon; 

 How new development can demonstrate that it is addressing climate change; 

 The role of carbon offsetting; 

 Overheating; 

 Water efficiency; 

2.4 The majority of these fall broadly under the mitigation heading. Other aspects of the Local 

Plan, for example policies regarding flooding and provision of open space and green 

infrastructure as part of new development or measures to improve water efficiency will fall 

under the adaptation heading and will be considered in due course.  

2.5 For each of these headings the report sets out some options and suggests which of these 

might be most appropriate for the Council to pursue with the intention that these options 

will be taken forward as part of the next consultation on the Local Plan.   

2.6 An issue which needs to be considered is whether policies should apply to all 

developments irrespective of scale or just those above a certain threshold. On the one 

hand, it can be argued that all developments should be subject to the same policy 

13



 

requirements in order to ensure that climate change issues are properly addressed. 

However, the incorporation of measures and the need to demonstrate compliance entails 

a cost to a developer. 

2.7 A key element of government policy is to provide support for small and medium sized 

builders. One way to do this is to minimise the burden on such developers. As part of its 

response to the covid-19 pandemic, the government advised local authorities to seek to 

reduce the burden on small and medium sized builders by taking a more flexible 

approach to payments due in connection with S106 Agreements. Small and medium 

builders were defined as those having a turnover of up to £45m. Therefore, one option 

would to restrict certain policy requirements so that they did not apply to such builders. 

2.8 The government has also sought to support smaller developers through the NPPF which 

requires that 10% of all housing requirements should take place on sites of less than 1ha 

(which equates to about 30 dwellings). The argument for this is that small and medium 

builders are more likely to develop such smaller sites than the large builders are. This 

could, therefore, be another way of minimising the impact on small and medium 

developers.  

2.9 Both of these potential thresholds have their merits, although there is no guarantee that a 

small builder would only build sites of less than 30 dwellings or conversely that a large 

developer would not build sites of less than 30 dwellings. Therefore, to ensure that any 

policies which seek to minimise the impact upon small and medium builders are  

restricted to such developers, it is suggested that a major residential developments be 

defined as : 

 those of 1ha or more or 30 or more dwellings and not developed by a small to 

medium sized builder, defined as those having a turnover of up to £45m 

2.10 No similar distinction is provided in respect of employment land. However, the Council 

uses a threshold of more than 0.25ha or 500 sq m floorspace when assessing sites for 

inclusion in the Council’s SHELAA and so these could be applied to non-residential 

development.  

2.11 Therefore, for non-residential developments a major site would be defined as: 

 those sites of at least 0.25ha or 500 sq metres floorspace 

3.  RENEWABLE ENERGY 
 

3.1 Energy consumption which is based on carbon from new development must be reduced 
in order to meet zero carbon targets. This means that demand will need to be sourced 
from renewable forms of energy.  

 
3.2 Policy Cc1 in the adopted Local Plan is concerned with renewable energy and sets out a 

range of criteria that planning applications must meet for renewable energy installations to 
be supported. This is principally concerned with proposals for wind turbines. Policy Cc1 
does not establish a target for the amount of energy to be provided from renewable 
energy sources as there was a lack of any evidence regarding potential at that time.   

3.3 Since the adoption of the Local Plan the NPPF has been updated and in relation to 
renewable energy it states that the planning system should: 

“…support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate…and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure”. 

“To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and 
heat, plans should:  

14



 

a) provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that maximises the 
potential for suitable development, while ensuring that adverse impacts are 
addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape and visual impacts);  

b) consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy 
sources, and supporting infrastructure, where this would help secure their 
development; and 

c) identify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for colocating 
potential heat customers and suppliers”. 

3.4 Furthermore, the council declared a Climate Change Emergency (25th June 2019) which 
sets out the council’s commitment to support the Governments net zero target to 2050 
and its aim to achieve carbon neutrality for the council’s own emissions by 2030. It is 
clear, therefore, that the Local Plan will need to do much more than is currently the case. 

3.5 The AECOM study identifies that in terms of renewable energy that the main opportunities 
for NWLDC going forward will be, wind energy, solar and heat pumps. It also notes that 
these are well-established technologies that currently represent the most cost-effective 
solutions for generating renewable electricity in the UK. 

Wind Energy  

3.6 The provision of energy from wind was the subject of a Written Ministerial Statement 
(WMS) (HCWS42) of 18 June 2015. This introduced new considerations to be applied to 
proposed onshore wind energy development so that “local people have the final say on 
wind farm applications”. When determining planning applications for wind energy 
development involving one or more wind turbines, local planning authorities should only 
grant planning permission if:  

 The development site is in an area identified as suitable for wind energy 

development in a local or neighbourhood plan; and  

 Following consultation, it can be demonstrated that the planning impacts identified 

by affected local communities have been fully addressed and therefore the 

proposal has their backing. 

 

3.7 In terms of the above WMS, the District Council has identified potential areas that are 
suitable for wind energy on the Wind Energy Opportunities Maps (2016) that accompany 
the adopted Local Plan. The AECOM study considers it is appropriate to continue to use 
the 2016 Wind Energy Study Maps and, as such, the AECOM Study utilises the maps to 
inform their analysis of future renewable energy opportunities. The current Local Plan 
Policy Cc1 addresses the second bullet point requirement of the WMS.  

3.8 The potential for wind energy is most likely to be realised from wind farms or single large-
scale turbines in rural areas (for example, the wind turbines at Farm Town and Heather), 
although this is largely dependent on commercial interest and viability. There is less 
scope in built up areas for wind energy generation and therefore it is reasonable to 
anticipate that it is unlikely that new development would include wind energy generation 
proposals. 

Solar Energy 

3.9 In terms of solar energy generation, the AECOM study confirms that Photovoltaic (PV) 
farms are among the most cost-effective ways of generating renewable electricity and can 
be installed more flexibly than many other LZC technologies, and that they should be 
considered a key opportunity that can provide renewable energy for North West 
Leicestershire at a strategic scale. 

15



 

3.10 The AECOM Study identifies that there is significant potential for both building-integrated 
and standalone PV installations within NWLDC. Roof-mounted PV is not the cheapest 
way to generate renewable electricity. However, it should be understood as a key 
opportunity for North West Leicestershire, both because it arguably has a smaller visual 
impact on the wider landscape than large-scale PV or wind turbines, and because the 
total amount of roof space, considered cumulatively, is relatively large (based on the 
current number of existing buildings and Local Plan development projections). Large non-
domestic buildings, such as those that contain industrial facilities, can provide significant 
opportunities for installing roof-mounted solar energy technologies.  

3.11 There is greater potential for solar energy generation on individual buildings compared to 
wind energy generation. 

What might a renewable energy generation target be?  

3.12 The Zero Carbon Roadmap identifies the following targets: 

Solar - Set a formal target for solar capacity in NWL from 89MW today to at least 140MW 
by 2050 in the Local Plan. 

Wind - Set a formal target for wind capacity in NWL from 3MW today to at least 75MW by 

2050 in the Local Plan. 

3.13 These targets have been confirmed by the AECOM study as being achievable.  

3.14 There is no base date in the Roadmap for when such targets should be set. However, the 

Action Plan that accompanies the Roadmap identifies that the above targets should be 

actioned within the next 3 years.  

3.15 The baseline figures included in the Roadmap of the existing provision of wind and solar 

renewable installations (89MW of solar capacity and 3MW of wind capacity) have not yet 

been corroborated by the authors of the Roadmap. Therefore, the baseline figures of 

existing provision referred to above are taken from the AECOM study which provides 

slightly different provision figures of 81.4MW of solar energy and 3.3MW of wind energy 

based on published national data sources.   

3.16 The targets will need to be pro rated to be consistent with the plan period. As the 

Roadmap was adopted in 2020, the pro-rated targets from 2020 to 2039 would be. 

 Solar target would equate to 37.11MW from 2020 to 2039. 

 Wind target would equate to 45.41MW from 2020 to 2039. 

A higher target? 

3.17 The AECOM study identifies that based on work carried out by the Centre for sustainable 

Energy and SQW in 2011 (The ‘Low Carbon Energy Opportunities Heat Mapping for 

Local Planning Areas Across the East Midlands: Final Report’) and using rules of thumb 

set out by the then Department for Energy and climate Change in 2010, that the 

Roadmap targets could be theoretically exceeded.  

3.18 The AECOM Study advises that this does not mean that it would be desirable, practical, 

or financially viable to deliver this amount of wind energy– only that there is, in principle, 

enough physical and spatial resource in the District to do so.  

3.19 A higher target could be to achieve the targets in the roadmap by 2039 (rather than by 

2050): 

 Solar target would be to increase solar capacity to at least 58.60MW by 2039. 

 Wind target would be to increase wind capacity to at least 71.70MW by 2039. 

16



 

 

A lower target?  

3.20 Although the AECOM Study identifies that the Roadmap targets for solar and wind energy 
generation are achievable it is also appropriate, at this stage, to consider setting lower 
targets than those set out in the Roadmap due to potential viability issues and to provide 
a reasonable alternative in terms of the SA process. 

3.21 The targets below have been calculated by adding 10 years onto the target date of 2050 
(so to 2060) and pro rata the requirements for the plan period from there. 

 Solar target would be to increase solar capacity to at least 27.84MW by 2039. 

 Wind target would be to increase wind capacity to at least 34.06MW by 2039. 

Policy Options 

3.22 Having regard to the above the following policy options are put forward.  

Option 1 – to not include a solar and wind energy generation target.  

Option 2 – solar and wind energy targets as set out in the adopted Zero Carbon 
Roadmap.  

Option 3 – solar and wind energy targets higher than in the Roadmap.  

Option 4 – solar and wind energy targets lower than in the Roadmap.  

3.23 A summary assessment of the advantages/disadvantages of these options is set out in 
the following table.  

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 - to not include a solar and wind energy generation target 
 

 Simple approach  Would make it less likely that the zero-
carbon target could be achieved  

Option 2 – Solar and wind energy targets as set out in the adopted Zero Carbon 
Roadmap 
 

 Provides clarity for all users of the plan 
about the criteria that will apply  

 Roadmap targets have been 
independently corroborated by AECOM 
who agree they are achievable 

  Will need to monitor provision  

Option 3 – Solar and wind energy targets higher than in the Roadmap 
 

 Provides clarity for all users of the plan 
about the criteria that will apply  

 Proactive approach to renewable 
energy in order to achieve 2050 zero 
carbon target and to respond to NWLDC 
declared climate emergency. 

 Will need to monitor provision 

Option 4 –solar and wind energy targets lower than in the Roadmap 
 

  Lower target more likely to be met  Would make it less likely that the zero 
carbon target could be achieved  

 Will need to monitor provision 

 

17



 

3.24 It is considered that option 2 – Solar and wind energy targets as set out in the adopted 
Zero Carbon Roadmap - would be the most preferred option as these targets have been 
identified as achievable in the AECOM Study.  

3.25 An illustration of what a policy might look like is set out at Appendix 1 of this report. For 
Members benefit, those parts in Appendix 1 that are underlined would be additional to 
policy CC1 of the adopted Local plan.  

4. ENERGY EFFICIENCY  

4.1 The adopted Local Plan does not include a policy relating to energy efficiency. This was 

primarily because the Planning and Energy Act 2008 had proposed that local authorities 

would no longer be able to set energy efficiency standards above the national building 

regulations. Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the government, in their 2019 Spring 

Statement, committed that (by 2025) it would introduce a Future Homes Standard (FHS) 

which would require new build homes to be future-proofed with low carbon heating and 

world-leading levels of energy efficiency.  

Energy Hierarchy 

4.2 The energy hierarchy is used to guide and prioritise the steps which should be taken to 
minimise energy use and reducing associated Green House Gas emissions. These steps 
are sometimes shown as: 
 
BE LEAN – take steps to reduce energy consumption through improved fabric efficiency 
and low energy use lighting 
BE CLEAN – Seek to maximise efficiency of delivery of space heating requirements, such 
as communal boilers or district heat networks 
BE GREEN – Generate heat and electrical energy on-site and renewably to further 
reduce the developments carbon impact. 
 

4.3 In the case of new buildings, energy issues should be given consideration at an early 
stage of design (ideally at project inception) to enable the best technical and economic 
solutions to be achieved, including the determination of the physical form and 
characteristics of the building. 
 

4.4 This is also known as a 'fabric first' approach to building design which involves 
maximising the performance of the components and materials that make up the 
building fabric itself. 
 

4.5 The UK Green Building Council note that “…optimising the efficiency of the building fabric 
is the starting-point for the whole net zero journey. We should not be designing and 
building homes that will need retrofitting in the future”. 
 

4.6 Buildings designed and constructed using a fabric first approach aim to minimise the need 
for energy consumption through methods such as: 

 Maximising air-tightness 
 Increased levels of insulation 
 Optimising solar gain through the provision of openings and shading 
 Optimising natural ventilation 
 Using the thermal mass of the building fabric 

 
4.7 Focusing on the building fabric is generally considered to be more sustainable than 

relying on energy saving products, or renewable technologies, which can be expensive 
and may or may not be used efficiently by occupants. 

 
4.8 The energy hierarchy and fabric first approach are referred to in the policy wording set out 

in Appendix 2 of this report. 
 

18



 

The Future Homes Standard  
 
4.9 Under the FHS, new buildings would be required to meet significantly higher targets for 

energy efficiency and carbon savings. The government’s 2019 consultation on Part L of 
the Building Regulations and the FHS highlighted the government’s intention to:  

“introduce in 2020 a meaningful but achievable uplift to energy efficiency 
standards as a stepping stone to the [2025] Future Homes Standard”.  

 
4.10 The Government consulted on two possible uplifts for 2020:  
 

 Option 1: 20% reduction in carbon emissions compared to the current standard for 

an average home built to Building Regulations 2013 Part L requirements. 

 

 Option 2: 31% reduction in carbon emissions compared to the current standard for 

an average home built to Building Regulations 2013 Part L requirements. 

 
4.11 As part of the FHS Consultation the Government confirmed that a 19-20% CO2 reduction 

is viable on a national scale, it is the less ambitious of the two targets proposed within the 
FHS consultation. Option 2 – the 31% reduction – was the Government’s preferred 
option, on the basis that, amongst other things, it would deliver more carbon savings. 

 
4.12 In January 2021, the Government published its response to the FHS consultation. This 

reconfirmed the FHS and made it clear that it will not come into force until 2025. In 
addition, the 31% reduction was confirmed as the Government’s intended interim uplift to 
Building Regulations – it will be regulated for in late 2021 and will come into effect in 
2022. 

4.13 The Government has also confirmed that:  
 

‘To provide some certainty in the immediate term, the Government will not amend 
the Planning & Energy Act 2008, which means that local planning authorities will 
retain powers to set local energy efficiency standards for new homes.’ 

4.14 The AECOM study states that NWLDC should aim to set the highest standards for energy 

and CO2 performance that can reasonably and viably be implemented, both for new and 

existing buildings. This is crucial in order to achieve the decarbonisation target. 

4.15 For new buildings, there is precedent to set a 19-20% CO2 reduction target above Part L 

2013, and the Government’s FHS Consultation confirms that this is viable on a national 

scale. However, this may soon be superseded by Building Regulations as the 

Government is proposing a 31% CO2 reduction target for new homes and is consulting 

on a 22-27% CO2 reduction target for non-domestic buildings. 

4.16 The AECOM study suggests that an even higher target could potentially be set, which 

could include a requirement for any residual emissions to be offset via developer 

contributions.  

4.17  Having regard to the above the following policy options are put forward. 

Option 1 – to not include an energy efficiency target. There would be no additional 

policy relating to energy efficiency nor an energy efficiency target. 

Option 2  – require an energy efficiency target of 31% (to be required on adoption of 

the Local Plan or when updated building regulations come into force, whichever is 

the earliest). This would require the Local Plan to include the FHS target of 31% but with 

an immediate start (i.e., before 2025). 

 

Option 3 – energy efficiency target higher than 31%. The AECOM study suggests that 

an even higher target could potentially be set, or the policy could be worded so that the 

19



 

target is set to increase over time which could include a requirement for any residual 

emissions to be offset via developer contributions.  

 

Option 4 – energy efficiency target lower than 31%. In terms of lower target, the figure 

of a 19-20% reduction, Option 1 of the government FHS consultation, could be used. This 

would be the less ambitious of the two targets proposed within the FHS consultation, but 

the Government has confirmed that this is a viable reduction on a national scale. A 

number of Local Authorities have set a 19-20% target to apply to all new developments so 

there is ample precedent for setting a target at this level. However, it would need to be 

recognised that this target may soon be superseded by changes to national regulations. 

 

4.18 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are set out in 

the table below.  

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 – to not include an energy efficiency target.  
 

   Does not respond to Council’s climate 
change emergency declaration 

 The plan would not be planning 
positively to government energy 
efficiency requirements 

Option 2 - Require an energy efficiency target of 31% (to be required on adoption of 
the Local Plan or when updated building regulations come into force, whichever is 
the earliest).  

 Proactive and requires energy efficiency 
measures to be addressed immediately. 

 Positively responds to council’s climate 
change emergency declaration 

 Requires earlier action than government 
requirement  

Option 3 –Energy efficiency target higher than 31% 

 Proactive approach 

 Positively responds to council’s climate 
change emergency declaration 

 Higher than government requirements 

Option 4 – Energy efficiency target lower than 31%  

    Lower than government target – may 
soon be superseded by a higher target. 

 Does not proactively respond to 
council’s climate change emergency 
declaration 

 

4.19 It is considered that option 2 – an energy efficiency target of 31% (to be required 
immediately) - would be the most pragmatic option and consistent with the AECOM study 
which states that:  

“NWLDC should…look to set the highest level of building performance standards for new 
buildings that can reasonably be implemented and should do so as soon as possible”.  

4.20 The response from the government on its FHS consultation identified the governments 
preferred option was for a 31% reduction. The 31% reduction was confirmed as the 
Government’s intended interim uplift to Building Regulations which will come into effect in 
2022.  

4.21  An illustration of what a policy might look like is set out at Appendix 2 of this report. 

 
5.  REDUCING CARBON 
 

Embodied carbon/lifetime emissions 

20



 

 

5.1 To help ensure that the targets for energy efficiency are met, it will be necessary for new 

developments to address issues in respect of what is referred to as Embodied Carbon. 

This is the carbon associated with both building materials and the construction and 

maintenance of a building throughout its whole lifecycle.  

5.2 The current Local Plan includes (in Policy D1) a requirement that: 

“(5) New development should have regard to sustainable design and construction 

methods”. 

However, there are no specific requirements beyond this.  
 
5.3 The UK Green Building Council note that:  
 

“As Building Regulations start to reduce operational emissions from buildings 
towards zero, embodied carbon emissions can be as much as 50% of total 
emissions over a building's lifetime. Despite this, there is nothing in national policy 
that currently requires embodied carbon emissions to be measured, let alone 
reduced. Most embodied carbon emissions occur near the start of a building 
project, so local authorities have an important role to play in filling the gap left by 
national policy by setting their own requirements”. 
 

5.4 The AECOM Study states that to reach Net Zero it will be necessary to implement policies 

that address a broader range of emissions that occur over the building’s lifecycle, at all 

stages of the supply chain.  

5.5 The AECOM Study identifies that one way of addressing this would be for NWLDC to 

require applicants to undertake a lifecycle carbon assessment (LCA) or otherwise 

demonstrate that they have taken steps to minimise lifecycle emissions. LCAs involve a 

holistic assessment of both operational and non-operational / embodied emissions. LCA 

is a multi-step procedure through the life stages of a building. Later sections of the report 

address how this would be done. 

5.6 The AECOM study recommends that future policy wording and /or supplementary 
planning guidance should encourage developers to undertake independent pre-demolition 
audits to identify opportunities for reusing or recycling any existing materials, either onsite 
or offsite. 

  
5.7 However, it also notes that carrying out a full Whole Life Carbon analysis will incur 

significant design team fees which may be prohibitive in the context of minor 

developments, so this type of policy might be restricted to major developments (as 

defined in paragraph 2.7 of this report). However, NWLDC could consider requesting that 

applicants for minor applications complete a simpler checklist to demonstrate that they 

have given due consideration to this topic. 

5.8 Having regard to the above the following policy options are put forward. 

Option 1 – to not include a policy requirement to require applicants to undertake a 

Lifecycle Carbon Assessment. 

Option 2 – include a policy requirement for all developments to undertake a 

Lifecycle Carbon Assessment. 

Option 3 – include a policy requirement for major developments to undertake a 

Lifecycle Carbon Assessment and minor developments to use a simple checklist to 

demonstrate that Lifecycle Carbon has been considered.  

5.9 Paragraphs 2.7  and 2.9 of this report sets out the proposed site size thresholds. 
 

21



 

5.10 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are set out in 

the table below. 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 – to not include a policy requirement to require applicants to undertake a 
Lifecycle Carbon Assessment  

 No national policy to require embodied 
emissions to be measured 

  

Option 2 – include policy requirement for all developments to undertake a Lifecycle 
Carbon Assessment 

 It signals that the council sees this as an 
important issue and one which 
applicants should actively consider as 
they are preparing planning 
applications. 

 Cost to applicants, in particular to 
smaller developers. 

 Need for training of Development 
Management Officers 

 Additional burden for officers to check 
assessments  

Option 3 - include policy requirement for major developments to undertake a 
Lifecycle Carbon Assessment and minor developments to use a simple checklist to 
demonstrate that Lifecycle Carbon has been considered.  

 It signals that the council sees this 
as an important issue and one 
which applicants should actively 
consider as they are preparing 
planning applications. 

 Reduces potential costs for small 
developments 

 Cost to applicants 

 Need for training of Development 
Management Officers 

 Additional burden for officers to check a 
checklist 

 

5.11 Of the options, option 3 – include policy requirement for major developments to undertake 
a Lifecycle Carbon Assessment and smaller developments to use a simple checklist to 
demonstrate that Lifecycle Carbon has been considered – is the preferred option.   

5.12 An illustration of what a policy might look like is set out at Appendix 2 of this report. 

 Overheating 

5.13 Overheating relates primarily to domestic properties and the UK Green Building Council 

identify that “there is strong evidence that excessive or prolonged high temperatures in 

homes can have severe consequences for occupants”. With summer temperatures 

predicted to rise between 2 and 4 degrees by 2050 it poses an increased risk to the 

vulnerable of suffering from severe heat stress.  

5.14 At the individual building level, the geometry, orientation and form of buildings can have a 

significant impact on overheating risk. Also, increasing levels of building airtightness and 

fabric efficiency require greater focus on the risk of overheating and strategies to mitigate 

this. The UK Green Building Council identify that it is not a choice between the two and 

that it is reasonable to expect efficient, low carbon homes which also minimise risks 

posed by overheating.  

5.15 National planning policy in the NPPF states that: 

“Plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate 

change, taking into account the long-term implications for…the risk of overheating 

from rising temperatures.” 

5.16 AECOM identify that at an individual building level, the priority should be to minimise 
unwanted heat gains before considering alternative cooling strategies. There is currently 
text in the Local Plan and Good Design SPD that refers to measures that can be used to 
reduce overheating, however, the AECOM Study recommends that NWLDC should also 
consider: 

22



 

 

 Requiring developments to follow a ‘Cooling Hierarchy’ that prioritises passive 

cooling measures. This could be demonstrated e.g., through the Design and 

Access Statement currently required by Policy D1 of the adopted Local plan. 

 Encouraging all schemes to consider overheating risk at an early stage, and to 

undertake a full appraisal if this indicates a high risk of overheating. Major 

developments should be required to undertake a full overheating risk assessment 

as standard. There are industry recognised assessments such as The Good 

Homes Alliance Domestic Overheating Checklist in the ‘Energy Assessment 

Guidance’ (2020). 

 
5.17 The Government recognise the significance of overheating. In its response to the Future 

Homes Standard consultation the Government has set out proposals for requiring 
modelling of overheating risk in residential properties or for meeting pre-defined 
parameters for maximum glazing areas and window/shading design characteristics, as 
part of the proposed 2021 update to Part L of Building Regulations for New Homes. 

 
5.18 Having regard to the above the following policy options are put forward. 

Option 1 – no change to the Local Plan 

Option 2 – include a policy to require all developments to address potential 

overheating.  

Option 3 – include a policy to require major developments to address overheating 

through an industry recognised assessment and minor developments to use a 

simple checklist to demonstrate that the risk of overheating has been considered.  

5.19 Paragraph 2.7 of this report sets out the proposed site size thresholds. 
 
5.20 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are set out in 

the table below. 
 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 – no change to the Local Plan  

   Does not respond to Council’s climate 
change emergency declaration. 

 the plan would not be planning 
positively to government requirement for 
plans to take a proactive approach to 
the risk of overheating 

Option 2 - include a policy to require applicants for major developments to address 
potential overheating.  

 Responds to requirements in NPPF 
for strategic policies to provision for 
plans to take a proactive approach 
to the risk of overheating 

 Additional requirements for applicants 

 Potential viability issues  

 Additional burden for officers to check a 
as part of planning applications  

Option 3 – include a policy to require major developments to address overheating 

through an industry recognised assessment and minor developments to use a 

simple checklist to demonstrate that the risk of overheating has been considered.  

 Responds to requirements in NPPF 
for strategic policies to provision for 
plans to take a proactive approach 
to the risk of overheating 

 Additional requirements for applicants 

 Potential viability issues  

 Additional burden for officers to check a 
as part of planning applications 

 

5.21 Of the options, option 3 –– include a policy to require major developments to address 
overheating through an industry recognised assessment and minor developments to use 

23



 

a simple checklist to demonstrate that the risk of overheating has been considered - is the 
preferred option.   

5.22 An illustration of what a policy might look like is set out at Appendix 2 of this report. 

 Demonstrating that new development is addressing climate change  

5.23 Mandatory standards for energy use and CO2 emissions are set out in Part L of the 
Building Regulations. These are progressively updated and, despite the current policy 
uncertainty, will generally include more ambitious standards over time as the UK moves 
towards a Net Zero economy. In addition, there are various voluntary industry standards 
and assessment methods that set higher targets. These include, for instance, the Building 
Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM), which sets out a 
range of holistic environmental measures that can be implemented when designing non-
residential buildings, and the Home Quality Mark (HQM) which is relevant to domestic 
buildings.  

 
5.24 Requiring developments to incorporate appropriate measures is only part of the solution. 

It is important that when making decisions about proposed developments that the Council 
has confidence that what is proposed will help to address the issues. One way to do this 
is through the use of recognised standards and assessment methods. 

 
5.25 The AECOM Study identifies that the District Council could consider requiring or 

encouraging developers to meet some of these higher standards as part of a future Local 

Plan policy. This is an approach that has been widely adopted elsewhere in the UK. The 

use of BREEAM and HQM standards can help deliver buildings where energy efficiency is 

a key driver for the design and where as-built performance is more likely to align with the 

design intent.  

5.26 AECOM identify that it is often the case that Local Authorities will only set BREEAM / 
HQM requirements for major developments, or certain types of schemes that are known 
to have fewer technical and viability constraints (e.g., large developments on greenfield 
sites). However, this would mean that not all developments are required to demonstrate 
how they would comply with any requirements.    

 
5.27 If any of the above standards were to be introduced in North West Leicestershire this 

would need to be tested through the normal Local Plan viability and consultation process. 

It should also be noted that the requirement for developments to be accompanied by an 

assessment will have resource implications for the Council as there will need to be a 

process for reviewing any submitted assessments and officers will require training in their 

use.  

5.28 Having regard to the above the following policy options are put forward. 

Option 1 – no change to the Local Plan 

Option 2 – include policy to require applicants for all developments to undertake a 

recognised industry assessment - HQM for domestic properties and BREEAM for 

non-residential properties.  

Option 3 - Include a policy to require applicants proposing major developments to 

undertake a recognised industry assessment - HQM for domestic properties and 

BREEAM for non-residential properties. 

5.29 Paragraphs 2.7 and 2.9 of this report sets out the proposed site size thresholds. 
 
5.30 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are set out in 

the table below. 

 

24



 

 

5.31 Of the options, option 3 – Include a policy to require applicants proposing major 
developments to undertake a recognised industry assessment - HQM for domestic 
properties and BREEAM for non-residential properties – is the preferred option.   

5.32 An illustration of what a policy might look like is set out at Appendix 2 of this report. 

 The role of a carbon offsetting fund 

5.33 ‘Carbon offsetting’ refers to compensating for carbon dioxide (CO2) or other greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions in one area by taking actions that reduce emissions elsewhere.  

 
5.34 Depending on the type of development in question, it may not be feasible to deliver the 

requisite level of CO2 emissions reduction onsite. In this instance, an option available to 
the Council is to allow developers to make a financial contribution towards a carbon offset 
fund. The money can then be used to pay for interventions off site that would result in an 
equivalent amount of CO2 being avoided (e.g., through energy efficiency measures or 
LZC projects) or removed from the atmosphere (e.g., through afforestation). 

 
5.35 The AECOM Study identifies the following opportunities for potential carbon offsetting 

projects in North West Leicestershire: 

• Energy efficiency measures in the local building stock;  

• Projects that help to shift towards the use of sustainable transport;  

• Local renewable energy projects; and  

• Tree planting and other forms of land management to promote carbon 
sequestration.  

 
5.36 Any projects would need to align with defined carbon reduction priorities for the District. 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 – No change to the Local Plan 

   Not requiring specific assessment tools 
could result in confusion and 
inconsistency of approach 

Option 2 – include policy to require applicants for all developments to undertake a 
recognised industry assessment - HQM for domestic properties and BREEAM for 
non-residential properties 

 It signals that the council sees this as an 
important issue and one which 
applicants should actively consider as 
they are preparing planning 
applications. 

 Requiring recognised assessment tools 
should ensure consistent approach and 
be easier to monitor 

 Additional costs to developers could 
result in potential viability issues  

Option 3 - Include a policy to require applicants proposing major developments to 

undertake a recognised industry assessment - HQM for domestic properties and 

BREEAM for non-residential properties 

 It signals that the council sees this as an 
important issue and one which 
applications for major development 
should actively consider as they are 
preparing planning applications. 

 Requiring recognised assessment tools 
should ensure consistent approach and 
be easier to monitor 

 Additional costs to developers could 
result in potential viability issues 

 Not all developments would be required 
to produce an assessment, so there is 
no guarantee that developments will 
help to meet energy efficiency targets  

25



 

5.37 When developing a strategy for carbon offsetting, the most important guiding principle is 

that it should be a last resort where other opportunities for reducing direct and 

indirect CO2 emissions have been prioritised before agreeing to a commuted sum.  

5.38 It should be noted that the main mechanism for Local Authorities to collect carbon 

offsetting payments is usually via an S106 agreement. This is an area that would 

potentially be impacted by the proposed changes to the planning system that were set out 

in the Government’s recently published white paper, ‘Planning for the Future.’ If the 

proposed changes were introduced – which is not certain to occur – the District Council 

might not be able to implement a Carbon Offset Fund. 

5.39 Having regard to the above the following policy options are put forward. 

Option 1 – not to include provision for a Carbon offsetting fund 

Option 2 – include a policy requirement to require applicants, where all other 

opportunities for on-site CO2 reductions have been explored and as a last resort, to 

contribute to a carbon offset fund 

5.40 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are set out in 

the table below. 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 – not to include provision for a Carbon offsetting fund 

 No additional resource implications for 
the Council  

 Would mean that not all developments 
could achieve targets 

Option 2 – include a policy requirement to require applicants, where all other 
opportunities for on-site Co2 reductions have been explored and as a last resort, to 
contribute to a carbon offset fund 

 It signals that the council sees this as an 
important issue and one which 
applicants should actively consider as 
they are preparing planning 
applications. 

 Potential viability issues  

 The potential time and cost to the 
Council of setting up and administering 
an offset fund could be quite significant 

 

5.41 The potential for setting up a carbon-offset fund is something which officers are seeking 

some additional external advice on. It is important to understand the amount of time and 

work that is involved in setting up an offset fund before any specific decisions are made. 

However, at this time it is considered appropriate to include this as an option. 

6 IMPROVING WATER EFFICIENCY 

6.1 The AECOM Study identifies that North West Leicestershire – like much of the nation – is 

classified as an area with ‘moderate’ water stress. It is important to conserve water, partly 

due to the CO2 emissions associated with its treatment and supply, but also because 

climate change is expected to affect water availability.  

6.2 The adopted 2017 Local Plan, which includes policies and guidance in respect of matters 

associated with flooding and sought to encourage the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage 

Systems (SUDS) as a way to control rainwater flows from developments. These existing 

policies will be reviewed in due course. 

6.3 The AECOM Study identifies that going forward, those policies could potentially be 

strengthened to include more specific water use requirements. Part G of the Building 

Regulations require new build homes to have a predicted water consumption of less than 

125 litres per person per day. A more ambitious target of no more than 105 litres per 

person per day is suggested in the AECOM study, which is consistent with the previous 

Code for sustainable Homes.  

26



 

6.4 Based on the above, the following options are put forward: 

Option 1 – no change to current Local Plan Policy Cc3 

Option 2 – require a standard of no more than 105 litres of water to be used per 

person per day 

6.5 The potential advantages and disadvantages of the different approaches are set out in 

the table below. 

ADVANTAGES DISADVANTAGES 

Option 1 – no change to current Local Plan Policy Cc3  

   No water usage standards would be set 

Option 2 – require a standard of no more than 105 litres of water to be used per 
person per day 

 Responds to the need to conserve 
water 

 Additional requirements for applicants 

 Additional requirements for DC officers  

 

6.6 Of the options, option 2 – require a standard of no more than 105 litres of water to be 
used per person per day – is the preferred option.  However, it should be noted that this 
may be an issue in the catchment of the River Mease Special Area of Conservation if it 
was to result in less flows in the river as this could then impact upon the species for which 
the river is designated. This is a matter which will need to be discussed with the 
Environment Agency and Natural England. 

 
6.7 An illustration of what a policy might look like is set out at Appendix 3 of this report. 

7 NEXT STEPS 

7.1 It is recommended that the options are included in the next public consultation for the 

Local Plan Review. Options will also be tested through the Sustainability 

Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment and Viability Assessment processes. 

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Developing a clean and green district 

Policy Considerations: 
 

None 

Safeguarding: 
 

No issues identified 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment of the Local Plan 
review will be undertaken as part of the Sustainability 
Appraisal. 

Customer Impact: No issues identified 

Economic and Social Impact:  No issues identified at this stage 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The decision itself will have no specific impact. The 
Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will deliver 
positive environmental and climate change benefits, 
and these will be recognised through the 
Sustainability Appraisal. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: None 

Risks: 
 

A risk assessment of the review has been undertaken 
and is reviewed at the officer Project Board meetings. 

Officer Contact 
 

Emma Trilk 
Senior Planning Officer 
01530 454726 
emma.trilk@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

27

mailto:emma.trilk@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

 
APPENDIX 1  

 
 POTENTIAL POLICY WORDING – RENEWABLE ENERGY 
 
 

The Council will aim to achieve the following renewable energy generation targets by 
2039: 
 

 37.11 MW of energy generated by solar energy generation 

 45.41MW of energy generated by wind energy generation 

      To achieve this: 

(1) The council will support renewable energy developments that are appropriate to 

their setting and make a positive contribution towards increasing the levels of 

renewable and low carbon energy generation in the district.  

(2) Planning applications for renewable energy including any new grid connection 

lines and any ancillary infrastructure and buildings associated with the 

development will be supported where: 

(a) There is no unacceptable impact on residential amenity in terms of    
noise, shadow flicker, vibration, topple distance and visual 
dominance; and  

(b) There is no adverse impact on the landscape character taking 
account of the special qualities set out within the individual National 
Character Areas; and 

(c) All impacts on biodiversity have been adequately mitigated or 
enhanced; and  

(d) Heritage assets and their settings are conserved or enhanced; and  
(e) Proposals take account of the cumulative effect that would result 

from the proposal in conjunction with permitted and existing 
renewable energy schemes; and 

(f) Proposals are accompanied by details to demonstrate how the site 
will be decommissioned to ensure the restoration of the site 
following cessation; and  

(g) Proposals for large-scale renewable energy should demonstrate 
that the economic, social and environmental benefits are for those 
communities closest to the proposed facility. 
 

(3) In addition to the above considerations, proposals for wind energy developments 
will be supported where: 
 

(a) The site lies within the ‘Area Identified as potentially suitable for 
large or small scale turbines’ as defined on the policies map; and 

(b) It can be demonstrated there is support from the local community or 
is set out within an area defined as being suitable for wind energy 
development within and adopted Neighbourhood Plan; and 

(c) All impacts on air traffic safety and radar and communications have 
been assessed and consulted upon. 
 

(4) In terms of proposals for solar energy developments including both mounted and 

standalone ground mounted installations and extensions or repowering of solar 

extensions, preference will be for sites which are focussed on previously 

developed land away from the best and most versatile agricultural land unless 

28



 

exceptionally justified. 

We will consider the preparation of a Supplementary Planning Document to provide 

further guidance on this issue.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



 

 
 
 

APPENDIX 2  
 

POTENTIAL POLICY WORDING- REDUCING CARBON EMISSIONS 
 
 

Development is required to achieve net zero carbon to contribute to the Council’s aim for a 

carbon neutral district by 2050. To achieve this, all new development will be required to: 

(1)    Reduce carbon dioxide emissions by following the steps in the energy hierarchy, within the 
design of new buildings by prioritising fabric first in the following sequence: 
a)  Energy reduction through ‘smart’ heating and lighting, behavioural changes, and use 
     of passive design measures; then, 
b)  Energy efficiency through better insulation and efficient appliances; then, 
c)  Renewable energy of heat and electricity from solar, wind, biomass, hydro and 
     geothermal sources; then 
d)  Low carbon energy including the use of heat pumps, Combined Heat and Power and 
     Combined Cooling Heat and Power systems; then 
e)  Conventional energy. 

(2)     Achieve a 31% reduction in regulated CO2 emissions against the Dwelling Emission Rate 

(DER) against the Target Emission Rate (TER) based on the 2013 Edition of the 2010 

Building Regulations (Part L) (or future equivalent legislation). This reduction is to be 

secured through on-site renewable and other low carbon technologies and/or energy 

efficiency measures. 

 (3)    demonstrate actions taken to reduce embodied carbon and maximise opportunities for 

reuse of materials 

(4)     demonstrate how development proposals have considered overheating risk at an early 

stage and followed the cooling hierarchy.  

(5)    be designed to ensure that the proposed heating systems can be easily replaced with heat 

pumps or other low carbon energy systems at a later date, including the installation of the 

necessary infrastructure to facilitate future installation. 

(Major) Residential proposals will be required to use the Homes Quality Mark scheme to show 

compliance with the above.  

(Minor) Residential proposals will be required to submit a statement demonstrating how they 

satisfy requirements 1 to 5 above 

Development proposals for non-residential development should demonstrate how they achieve 

BREEAM ‘excellent’. 

Where the use of onsite renewables to match the total energy consumption is demonstrated not 

to be technically feasible or economically viable, renewable energy generation should be 

maximised a much as possible; a financial contribution must be made to the Council’s carbon 

offset fund to enable residual carbon emissions to be offset by other local initiatives. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



 

 
 
 

APPENDIX 3  
 

POTENTIAL POLICY WORDING- WATER EFFICIENCY 
 
 

All development proposals should seek to reduce the use of mains water through adoption of 

water saving measures (e.g., smart meters), fittings and appliances. Refurbishment schemes will 

be expected to retrofit such measures. 

 Domestic developments should be designed to achieve a maximum of 105 litres per 

person per day, in line with the Optional Standard of Building Regulations Part G. 

 Non-domestic developments should be designed to achieve the maximum available 

credits under BREEAM Wat 01 or an equivalent best practice standard. 

All proposals are required to incorporate rainwater harvesting systems, and should consider 

utilising alternative sources of water, such as greywater recycling, and (where relevant) water 

efficient methods of irrigation methods and land use practices. 

Where such measures are proposed, the Design and Access Statement should set out how they 

will be integrated with broader measures such as landscaping designs, Sustainable Urban 

Design Statement, and the provision of green / blue infrastructure, to reduce demands on the 

public water supply. 

 
 
 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – 7 JULY 2021 
 

Title of Report 
 

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW – HEALTH AND WELLBEING POLICY 
 

Presented by Councillor Robert Ashman 
Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure 

Background Papers  
National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
National Planning Practice 
Guidance 
 
North West Leicestershire 
Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2018 – 2028  
 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The cost of the substantive Local Plan Review is met through 
existing budgets.  
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications None from the specific content of this report. In due course the 
policy options set out will be incorporated in a consultation 
document for the Substantive Local Plan Review. The Local Plan 
Review process as a whole must accord with the legal 
requirements set out in legislation and guidance.  
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

No staffing implications associated with the specific content of 
this report. Links with the Council’s Priorities are set out at the 
end of the report.  
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report This report outlines to Members the possible approaches to 
Health and Wellbeing as part of the Substantive Local Plan 
Review.   

Recommendations THAT THE LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE AGREES FOR 
INCLUSION IN THE NEXT CONSULTATION STAGE OF THE 
LOCAL PLAN REVIEW THE POTENTIAL POLICY OPTIONS 
SET OUT IN THE REPORT FOR: 
A) A HEALTH AND WELLBEING  POLICY AND 
B) A HEALTH IMPACT ASSESSMENT POLICY 

 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Members will be aware that the Council has a Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-28. It 

specifically identifies the role of planning policy in the delivery of the strategy, namely, to 
embed health and wellbeing in local plans, the consideration of the strategy’s objectives 
when considering development proposals and the promotion of active travel. 

 
1.2 The Council’s Delivery Plan for 2019-2020 includes as one of its aims that “Our 

Communities are safe, healthy and connected,” and one of its key tasks is to ‘Deliver the 
actions in our Health and Wellbeing Strategy.’   

 
1.3 The Local Plan Review, therefore, provides opportunities for the Council’s planning function 

to further support the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and building upon the National 
Planning Policy Framework’s (NPPF) principle of achieving sustainable development, to 

33

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/health-and-wellbeing
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/health-and-wellbeing
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/health_and_well_being_strategy
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/health_and_well_being_strategy
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/health_and_well_being_strategy


 

support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, and to take into account the health status 
and needs of the local population as part of development.   

 
1.4 The planning process can help promote the health and wellbeing of its residents, workers 

and visitors to the District, and the Local Plan has a key role in shaping the built and natural 
environment. This can influence people’s ability to follow healthy behaviour, facilitate 
development that supports and encourages active and healthy lifestyles and can have 
positive impacts on reducing inequalities. 

 
2. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY  
 
2.1 The NPPF identifies the purpose of the planning system as being "to contribute to the 

achievement of sustainable development”, supported by economic, social and 
environmental objectives. 

 
2.2 Para 8b of the NPPF defines the social objective of the planning system as ‘to support 

strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of 
homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by 
fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and 
cultural well-being.’   

 
2.3 The planning system has a clear role to play in the provision of heath infrastructure and the 

NPPF (Para 91) expects that policies and planning decisions should aim to achieve 
healthy, inclusive and safe place, which: 

 

 Provide opportunities for social interaction; 

 Enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address identified 
local health and well-being needs 

 
 2.4 Furthermore, throughout the NPPF we can see examples of how the planning system can 

contribute to the health and well-being of our communities, and a range of issues are raised 
covering matter such as: 

 

 Provision of accessible green infrastructure; 

 Opportunities for sport and physical activity, including layouts that encourage 
walking and cycling; 

 Provision of sports facilities and allotments; 

 Access to healthier food;  

 Limit need to travel and opportunities for sustainable travel, to help reduce 
congestion, improve air quality and public health 

 Securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places  
  
2.5 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) reaffirms that local planning authorities 

should ensure that health and wellbeing and health infrastructure are considered in plan 
making and in planning decision-making. Its section on health and wellbeing supports the 
issues found within the NPPF.   

 
2.6 The NPPG advises that: 

 
“Planning and health need to be considered together in two ways: in terms of creating 
environments that support and encourage healthy lifestyles, and in terms of identifying and 
securing the facilities needed for primary, secondary and tertiary care, and the wider health 
and care system (taking into account the changing needs of the population).” (Paragraph: 
001 Reference ID:53-001-20190722). 

 
2.7 The NPPG also identifies that a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a useful tool to use 

where there are expected to be significant impacts. 
 

34



 

2.8 The planning system also has a role to play in meeting the challenge of climate change and 
it is recognised that health and wellbeing is interlinked with the challenge of climate 
change. Actions that protect our planet and mitigate climate changes are also good for 
people’s health and wellbeing, for example, reducing the need to travel by car helps reduce 
air pollution and supports opportunities to walk and cycle, or minimising vulnerability to 
flooding has a positive impact on people’s health and wellbeing. The issue of climate 
change and renewable energy as part of the Local Plan Review is considered in a separate 
report elsewhere on the agenda, although it is understood that these issues are interlinked 
and complementary. 

 
3 CURRENT POLICY POSITION 

 
3.1 The adopted North West Leicestershire Local Plan does not include a specific policy 

addressing Health and Wellbeing. There are however, a number of policies that promote 
health and wellbeing and the creation of healthy living environments. This is addressed 
explicitly and implicitly in various policies as summarised in Appendix A. Many of these 
policies cut across a number of themes, such as climate change, impacts of pollution, the 
public realm and access to recreation facilities. Similar policies to these are likely to be 
included as part of the Local Plan Review and will be considered in due course. The 
purpose of this report is to focus upon specific potential health and wellbeing policies.    

 
3.2 The issue of health and wellbeing was raised as part of the Local Plan Review: Emerging 

Options Consultation undertaken during November 2018 to January 2019.   
 
3.3 A report to the meeting of this committee on 26 June 2019 considered all of the responses 

to that consultation. In terms of how the Local Plan can address Health and Wellbeing 
Issues, there was a good level of support for the inclusion of a health and wellbeing policy 
or policies. Suggestions for what such a policy should include identified issues such as 
waterways, cycle lanes and footpaths, heritage, green infrastructure and economic 
wellbeing. However, there was the suggestion by some that a policy is not necessary as 
this could lead to duplication of existing policies and processes. In addition, any policy 
should be supported by evidence and proportionate to the development.   

 
3.4 There was also broad support for the inclusion of a strategic policy that linked to other 

Local Plan policies such as green infrastructure, sustainable travel, sport and recreation 
opportunities.   

 
Health Impact Assessments 

 
3.5 The consultation in 2018 also raised the issues of Health Impact Assessment (HIA). A HIA 

is a process which ensures that the effect of development on both health and wellbeing 
inequalities are considered and responded to during the planning process. It seeks to 
identify the positive opportunities for health from a proposal as well as highlighting potential 
negative impacts that need mitigation. It however, does not provide a definitive answer on 
whether planning permission should be granted or not. The findings of a HIA should be 
used as one component of the decision-making process. 

 
 
3.6 There was some support for the use of HIA Screening Statements to identify whether a 

more in depth HIA is required. For some this approach was considered to be preferable 
and more proportionate than requiring a full HIA for all development. Others were against 
this approach in principal, as they considered that, it is not the role of a local planning 
authority to seek these and that the HIA is already an integral part of the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment process. 

 
3.7 The potential threshold for HIAs was suggested as ranging from 20 dwellings and above. 

Some felt that the need for a HIA should be determined on a case-by-case basis as part of 
the pre-application process or in accordance with a Supplementary Planning Document. 

 

35



 

3.8 Question were also raised on the issue of takeaways and their location in respect of 
schools. The majority of the responses did not support restrictions on further takeaways 
uses within a specific distance of a school. As such, there was limited feedback on the 
distance of any potential takeaway exclusion zone. 

 
3.9 The Local Plan Committee supported the intention to continue to explore the potential use 

of HIAs and to further explore the issue of fast food takeaways.   
 
3.10 This report explores the potential policy options for health and wellbeing and HIAs. Further 

work, with the Health and Wellbeing Team Leader and the Environmental Protection Team 
is currently ongoing on the matter of take away establishments. This work is looking to 
establish whether there is a link between the number and location of take aways and health 
issues that are faced in the district, for example, levels of obesity. If there is found to be a 
link, it is suggested that this will be a matter to be explored further as part of the Local Plan 
Review.  

 
4 POSSIBLE POLICY OPTIONS 

 
4.1 Having regard to national policy and guidance, it is suggested that it would be appropriate 

to have Local Plan policies that would explicitly address Health and Wellbeing issues.  
 
4.2 Options for policies to be considered in the Local Plan Review are described below. The 

intention is that these will be presented as alternatives in the next Local Plan Review 
consultation (Regulation 18 stage) so that wider views on the implications of the different 
options can be gathered. The options will also be tested through the Sustainability 
Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment process so that their relative merits can be 
compared on a consistent basis. 

 
4.3 It is important to say at the outset that many of these policy options will potentially add to 

the cost of new developments. The NPPF is clear that policies in local plans should not 
“undermine the deliverability of the plan”. The local plan will need to be subject to a viability 
assessment the purpose of which (according to the National Planning Practice Guidance) is 
to “not compromise sustainable development but should be used to ensure that policies are 
realistic, and that the total cumulative cost of all relevant policies will not undermine 
deliverability of the plan”. It will be appreciated, therefore that any preferred options may 
need to be amended later in the plan preparation process to take account of viability 
issues. 

 
 General Policy Approach 

 
  Option 1 – no policy on health and wellbeing policy  
 
 Option 2 – inclusion of a health and wellbeing policy. 
 
4.4 If no specific policy is included, health and wellbeing issues would continue to be 

addressed solely through a number of policies throughout the Local Plan.   
 
4.5 However a specific policy could be used that identifies the Council’s support for the 

promotion of the health and wellbeing.   
 
4.6 A summary assessment of the advantages/disadvantages of these two options is set out in 

the following table: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 1 - no general policy on health and wellbeing policy 

Health and wellbeing issues would continue 
to be addressed solely through a number of 
policies throughout the Local Plan.   
 
 

Missed opportunity to explicitly embed 
health and wellbeing in the Local Plan 
and to show conformity with the NPPF 
and the Council’s Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  

Option 2 - inclusion of a general health and wellbeing policy. 

The NPPF recognises the important role that 
planning can take in helping to address 
health and wellbeing issues associated with 
new development 

Potential duplication of other policies 

Health and wellbeing is explicitly addressed 
and embedded in policy and provides a 
greater opportunity to address the current 
challenges faced with respect to health and 
wellbeing. 

 

Seeks to ensure that issues relating to 
health and wellbeing are considered as part 
of the planning process in order to positively 
improve outcome for the people who live, 
work and visit the district. 

 

Contributes towards the vision and priorities 
of the North West Leicestershire Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2018-2028. 

 

 
 

4.7 Having regard to the above, the inclusion of some form of overarching approach would be 
considered appropriate in light of national policy and guidance. 

 
4.8 Detailed policy wording will be drafted at a later stage once preferred policy options have 

been selected. In this case, however, officers have drafted some suggested wording for a 
‘general health and wellbeing policy’ to illustrate what this might look like. This is included in 
Appendix B for illustrative purposes only. Further, the plan’s supporting text will need to 
provide important information to explain the requirements in the policy, as well as the 
relevant background and issues faced by the district 

 
 Health Impact Assessments 
 
4.9 National Planning Practice Guidance highlights the value of health impact assessments. 

There are different types of HIA, including a desktop HIA, a rapid HIA and a comprehensive 
HIA, and the type of HIA undertaken could depend on the nature of the development 
proposed. For example, the size of a development or its intended use will determine the 
type and focus of a HIA. 

 
4.10 Potential options for how this matter could be addressed in the Local Plan Review include 

the following:  
 
 Option 1 – No change and the Local Plan Review does not include a policy that seeks the 

submission of a Health Impact Assessment to support development proposals. 
Option 2 – require a Health Impact Assessment to accompany all planning applications 

 
 Option 3 – Require a form of Health Impact Assessment for planning proposals that meet a 

specified threshold, including the use of a Health Impact Screening Statement as a 
systematic way of deciding whether a full HIA is required. 

 
4.11 A summary assessment of the advantages/disadvantages of these options is set out in the 

following table: 
 

37



 

 
  

Advantages Disadvantages 

Option 1 – no requirement for a Health Impact Assessment 

No additional cost implications for the 
applicant or the Council. 

Whilst major applications which are of a 
scale that require a Strategic Environmental 
Appraisal would specifically address health 
issues, this does not apply to the majority of 
planning applications. 

 Missed opportunity to identify health and 
wellbeing issues, associated with a specific 
development proposal for the majority of 
applications. 

 Missed opportunity to address negative 
impacts as well as identifying positive 
impacts, for the majority of applications. 

 Contrary to the Council’s Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy which supports the use 
of Health Impact Assessments. 

Option 2 – A Health Impact Assessment to accompany all planning applications 

Ensures that the effect of development on 
both health and wellbeing inequalities are 
considered and responded to during the 
planning process for all planning 
applications. 

Such a requirement may not be 
proportionate to the size/scale of the 
development proposed and could result in 
disproportionate expense to applicants. 

Provides consistency and certainty for 
applicants as to what is expected. 

Resource implications with potential 
significant costs for Council as well as a high 
level of input from external health agencies 
to facilitate this approach. 

Option 3 - Require a form of Health Impact Assessment for planning proposals that meet 
a specified threshold, including the use of a Health Impact Screening Statement as a 
systematic way of deciding whether a full HIA is required. 

Ensures that the effect of development on 
both health and wellbeing inequalities are 
considered and responded to during the 
planning process for a number of 
planning applications. 

Such a requirement may not be 
proportionate to the size/scale of the 
development proposed and could result in 
disproportionate expense to applicants, 
albeit potentially to a lesser degree than 
Option 2. 

Allows for the development of an 
understanding of health and wellbeing 
issues, at an early stage in the 
development process, so can be used to 
shape a development and allow for 
reasonable and appropriate amendments. 

Resource implications with potential 
significant costs for Council as well as a high 
level of input from external health agencies 
to facilitate this approach, albeit potentially 
to a lesser degree than Option 2. 

Recognises that the size of development 
will determined the type and focus of the 
Health Impact Assessment. 

 

Provides consistency and certainty for 
applicants as to what is expected, as well 
as flexibility allowing an assessment to be 
proportionate to the type of development 
proposed. 

 

 
4.12 Option 1 is considered to be a missed opportunity to address health and wellbeing issues, 

particularly given the role the planning system has to play in supporting strong, vibrant and 
healthy communities, and in light of the Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Both 
Options 2 and 3 build upon National Planning Policy and Guidance. However there is likely 
to be an impact on viability and resources, to a greater or lesser degree for each of these 

38



 

options. With this in mind, it is suggested that Options 3 allows for greater flexibility and 
opportunity for a HIA to be proportionate to the type of development that is proposed. 

 
4.13 Detailed policy wording will be drafted at a later stage once preferred policy options have 

been selected but to provide an illustration of possible policy wording, officers have drafted 
some wording for Option 3. This is included in Appendix B. As previously stated, the plan’s 
supporting text will need to provide important information to explain how the requirements 
in the policy will be met and how it will be applied. 

 
4.14 Furthermore, work is being undertaken with Planning Policy colleagues at Blaby District 

Council, and also Public Health at Leicestershire County Council, to develop and facilitate 
the use of HIAs within the planning process. This ongoing joint working is a potential 
opportunity to provide a consistent approach across the county as well as a positive use of 
resources and the range of skills available. It is intended that this work will be used to 
inform future work on the development of HIAs and their application in supporting planning 
applications, should this be the direction that Local Plan Policy is to take. To support this 
work, the Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA) have recently been 
commissioned to assist in exploring ways to facilitate the inclusion of health and wellbeing 
issues explicitly within Local Plan policy, alongside the collection of local health data in 
order to provide a profile of the specific issues being faced by the district.   

 
 Thresholds/Criteria Based Approach 
 
4.15 Option 3 above suggests an approach that would allow for a Health Impact Assessment 

Screening Statement and/or HIA to be sought. 
 
4.16 To progress this option further consideration will need to be given to the thresholds and 

criteria applied. The first stage in a HIA is the Screening Stage and can be used to identify 
if a HIA is needed and if one is, what type of HIA should be undertaken. It is therefore 
suggested that a HIA Screening Statement could be submitted with development proposals 
that meet a specific threshold or criteria.  

 
4.17 When considering the possible threshold one option is to have regard to a key element of 

government policy which is to provide support for small and medium sized builders. One 

way to do this is to minimise the burden on such developers. As part of its response to the 

covid-19 pandemic, the government advised local authorities to seek to reduce the burden 

on small and medium sized builders by taking a more flexible approach to payments due in 

connection with S106 Agreements. Small and medium builders were defined as those 

having a turnover of up to £45m. Therefore, one option would to restrict certain policy 

requirements so that they did not apply to such builders. 

4.18 The government has also sought to support smaller developers through the NPPF which 

requires that 10% of all housing requirements should take place on sites of less than 1ha 

(which equates to about 30 dwellings). The argument for this is that small and medium 

builders are more likely to develop such smaller sites than the large builders are. This 

could, therefore, be another way of minimising the impact on small and medium 

developers.  

4.19 Both of these potential thresholds have their merits, although there is no guarantee that a 

small builder would only build sites of less than 30 dwellings or conversely that a large 

developer would not build sites of less than 30 dwellings. Therefore, to ensure that any 

policies which seek to minimise the impact upon small and medium builders are  restricted 

to such developers, it is suggested that a major residential developments be defined as : 

 those of 1ha or more or 30 or more dwellings and not developed by a small to 

medium sized builder, defined as those having a turnover of up to £45m 

 

39



 

4.20 An initial Health Impact Screening Statement will be required for the following types of 
development. Where the initial screening assessment indicated more significant health 
impacts, a more comprehensive, in depth Health Impact Assessment will be required: 

 

 Residential development sites of 30 dwellings or more, or residential sites with an 
area of 1.0 ha or more. 

 Non-residential development for new or net additional floorspace of 1,000 sqm or 
more or non-residential development sites of 1 ha or more. 

 Change of use applications to:- 
- Restaurants and cafes (Class E) 
- Drinking establishments (Sui Generis) 
- Hot food takeaways (Sui Generis) 
- Residential institutions (Class C2) 
- Non-residential institutions (Class F1) 
- Leisure facilities (Class F2) 
- Betting shops and pay-day loan shops (Sui Generis) 

 
4.21 Whilst the above threshold/criteria would not cover all application types, the intention is to 

‘catch’ those applications that are more likely to have an impact on health and wellbeing, 
whilst being flexible and proportionate to the development proposed. The range of 
development proposal is considered to be reasonable and comprehensive and focuses on 
the development types and uses that are more likely to have an impact on health and 
wellbeing issues.   

 
4.22 Such a policy could include an additional criteria that specifies an initial Health Impact 

Screening Statement could also be sought for any other proposal considered by the local 
planning authority to require one. However, the disadvantage of this is that it would provide 
a level of uncertainty and questions could be raised about the application of this, for 
example, what circumstances may arise that may require ‘other’ proposals to require a 
screening statement. For this reason, it is not suggested that this additional criteria is 
included. 

 
4.23 The text of the Local Plan could provide information on the preparation of a screening 

statement and the type of issues that would need to be addressed. It could also provide 
information on what could trigger the need for a more comprehensive Health Impact 
Assessment. It is anticipated that the work currently being undertaken with Public Health 
England, would also provide some form of guidance to assist with the application of the 
policy. 

 
5 NEXT STEPS 
 
5.1 A number of options have been put forward in order to address health and wellbeing 

issues. It is recommended that the above options are included in the next public 
consultation for the Local Plan Review. Options will also be tested through the 
Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment process. 

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

- Developing a clean and green district 
- Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

Adopted Local Plan 
National Planning Policy Framework 

Safeguarding: 
 

None discernible 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

The Local Plan Review as an entity will be subject to 
an Equalities Impact Assessment. 

Customer Impact: 
 

None specific 

40



 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact. 
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
deliver positive economic and social impacts and 
these will be recorded through the Sustainability 
Appraisal. . 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

 The decision, of itself, will have no specific impact. 
The Substantive Local Plan Review as a whole will 
deliver positive environmental and climate change 
benefits and these will be recorded through the 
Sustainability Appraisal. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

In due course the planning policy implications of the 
economic evidence set out will be incorporated in a 
consultation document for the Substantive Local Plan 
Review. The consultation arrangements will be 
governed by requirements in the Statement of 
Community Involvement 

Risks: 
 

 A risk assessment for the Local Plan Review has 
been prepared and is kept up to date. As far as 
possible control measures have been put in place to 
minimise risks, including regular Project Board 
meetings where risk is reviewed. 

Officer Contact 
 

Alison Gibson  
Senior Panning Policy officer 
01530 454653 
alison.gibson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

 

41

mailto:alison.gibson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A  

ADOPTED LOCAL PLAN POLICIES OF RELEVANCE TO HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

 

 Seeks to deliver the housing needs of the district, including house type, size, 
tenure and affordable homes, supporting the creation of vibrant communities 
(Policies S1, Policy H4, Policy H5, Policy H6, Policy H7); 

 Supports a sustainable pattern of development providing for access to local 
facilities and services and opportunities for active travel and sustainable 
transport modes(Policy S2); 

 High quality and well-designed development, supporting the creation of 
vibrant and mixed use communities (Policy D1); 

 Supports the creation of attractive public realm and public spaces where the 
community can meet and provide opportunities for social interaction (Policy 
D1); 

 Supports the creation of places that are easy to get around and safe places 
for pedestrians and cyclists, with the provision of cycle and footpath links, 
within both new development and to adjoining areas, facilitating active travel 
(Policy D1, Policy H3, Policy IF4; 

 Protection of residential amenity and living conditions and mitigation against 
potential harmful impacts of noise, pollution and lighting, which may have an 
adverse impact on human health (Policy D2); 

 Support the viability and vitality of the districts town and local centres that 
provide important shopping facilities and services and also provide a focal 
point for communities, encouraging social interaction and opportunities for 
sustainable and active travel (Policy Ec10, Ec12); 

 Seeks to ensure a suitable balance of hot food takeaway uses within the 
districts town and local centres, so as not to undermine the primary shopping 
function of these area, and to allow consideration to be given to any potential 
health issues due to the number of such premises (Policy Ec11); 

 Development will be supported by appropriate infrastructure including 
community facilities such as health, footpaths and cycleway, and green 
infrastructure (Policy IF1); 

 Resist the loss of key services and facilities, support the retention of such 
facilities and where possible provide improvements in terms of quality, 
accessibility and levels of provision, thus providing opportunities for social 
interaction to maintain active and socially inclusive communities (Policy IF2); 

 Supports the provision of open space sport and recreation facilities and 
protect against their loss, providing opportunities for physical activity, play, 
sport and recreation and participation in healthier lifestyles (Policy IF3) 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



        APPENDIX B 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Policy 
 
 New development will be required to improve and promote strong, vibrant and healthy 

communities through ensuring a high quality environment by: 
 
 i. Creating an inclusive built and natural environment, 
 ii. Promoting and facilitating active and healthy lifestyles, 
 iii. Preventing negative impacts on residential amenity and wider public safety from 

noise, ground instability, ground and water contamination, vibration and air quality, 
 iv. Providing good access for all to health and social care facilities, 
 v. Promoting access for all to green spaces, sports facilities, play and recreation 

opportunities, 
  
 The Council will require: 
 

a. development to positively contribute to creating high quality, active, safe and 
accessible places; 

b. development proposals to assess their impact upon existing services and facilities, 
relating to health, social wellbeing, cultural and recreation; and 

c. proposals for development schemes to include a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
in accordance with Policy XX. Where significant adverse health impacts are 
identified, proposals for development will not be supported unless appropriate 
mitigation can be provided. 
 

Health Impact Assessments 

A Health Impact Screening Statement will be required for certain development 

proposals, to demonstrate its impact on health and wellbeing, and how it will contribute 

towards building strong vibrant and healthy communities and help reduce health 

inequalities in the district. For developments where the screening assessment 

indicates more significant health impacts, a more comprehensive, in depth Health 

Impact Assessment will be required. This will also be expected to demonstrate how 

any negative and cumulative impacts will be addressed.  

A Health Impact Screening Statement must be undertaken on the following: 

 Residential development proposals of 30 dwellings or more, or residential sites 

with an area of 1 ha or more. 

 Non-residential development for new or net additional floorspace of 1,000 sqm or 

more or non-residential development on sites of 1 ha or more. 

 Restaurants and cafes (Use Class E) 

 Drinking establishments (Sui Generis) 

 Hot food takeaways (Sui Generis) 

 Residential institutions (Use Class C2) 

 Non-residential institutions (Use Class F1) 

 Leisure facilities (Use Class F2) 

 Betting shops and pay-day loan shops (Sui Generis) 

 

 

45



 

 

 

46


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Warehousing and Logistics in Leicester and Leicestershire: Managing Growth and Change (April 2021)
	6 Local Plan Review - Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
	7 Local Plan Reveiw - Health and Wellbeing Policy
	Appendix A - Health and Wellbeing Policy
	Appendix B- Health and Wellbeing Policy


